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Every customer is unique. Each has distinct needs, and

each defines value in a different way. By recognizing and

embracing this fact, UnitedHealth Group has continued to

achieve record growth. We combine outstanding clinical

insight with consumer-focused services and innovative

technology tools to enable, facilitate and advance optimal

health for everyone. And in so doing — just like the customers

we serve — UnitedHealth Group has established itself as truly

one of a kind.
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ast year, I wrote that our strong 1999 performance “ suggested the emerging potential”  of strategies

we initiated in the early 1990s and dramatically advanced three years ago when we repositioned

UnitedHealth Group into independent but strategically aligned, market-defined businesses. This year’s

outstanding performance documents that we delivered on that potential — advancing health within a

framework of sound business principles. 

With each of our business segments reporting record results in the year 2000, we continue our

progress as one of the most dynamic growth companies in America. In the year 2000:

• Revenues rose to more than $21 billion, reflecting significant market share gains with strong and 

balanced growth in all business segments.

• Earnings per share grew 32 percent, with increasing diversification in income.

• Cash flows from operations exceeded $1.5 billion, a 28 percent increase over 1999.

• Return on equity rose to 19 percent for the year and 21 percent in the fourth quarter.

• Our companies added more than 3 million new individual customers, and now serve nearly 

35 million Americans.

• Our share price increased more than 130 percent, following a 23 percent increase in 1999.

UnitedHealthcare increased same-store revenues 13 percent by offering simple, convenient

access to comprehensive benefits and services to nearly 8.5 million Americans.  

Ovations achieved revenues of nearly $4 billion by successfully addressing the health care challenges

of our rapidly aging population through an innovative portfolio of programs and services. 

Uniprise realized striking market share gains and revenue growth of 15 percent by utilizing innovative

technology to provide simple and effective solutions to large, multi-location employers with complex

employee service and benefit needs.

Specialized Care Services generated revenues of $974 million in 2000, a dramatic 34 percent increase

over 1999.  Specialized Care Services responds to customers’ demands for more diverse resources to

improve their lives by organizing access to dental, behavioral, vision, transplant and other specialized

care networks, and information resources within the ever-expanding and diversifying health and 

well-being marketplace. 

L E T T E R  F R O M  T H E  C H A I R M A N

William W. McGuire, M.D.

“We have never embraced a ‘one size fits all’ concept for health care.

Instead, we have aligned our businesses and efforts along definable

market segments that focus on unique issues and needs.”
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established the optimal balance with the strong consumer values placed on choice and access. Health

care, like other areas of social commerce, should be based on principles of freedom and market choice,

and hence, no single solution will work for everyone.

OUR ROLE — MAKING HEALTH CARE WORK MORE EFFECTIVELY

We have never embraced a “ one size fits all”  concept for health care. Instead, we have aligned our 

businesses and efforts along definable market segments that focus on unique issues and needs. Doctors

in small groups have a different business approach than large medical practices. Fortune 100 employers

and small businesses purchase health services differently. Young families have different needs than peo-

ple over the age of 50. Our challenge is to adapt component pieces to create simple, functional health

care systems that serve the unique needs of each constituency.

With core competencies in organizing care providers and resources into better-functioning health

networks and systems, using databases, analyses and the resulting clinical intelligence to inform 

participants in health care, and developing and using technology to improve quality and lower costs of

administrative functions, UnitedHealth Group is well positioned to add value to the marketplace. But it is

our fundamental values — which span market segments and guide our strategic thinking — that truly fuel

our continued success.

We believe in choice and direct access to broad, diverse and fully qualified care providers and health

resources. Accordingly, we offer a full range of option-rich benefit designs that enable customers to make

choices based on their unique needs. This partly explains why, in the past 12 months, we added more

than 2 million new individuals to the list of those we serve through UnitedHealthcare and Uniprise. 

This represents an unprecedented level of growth entering 2001. Today, we serve more than 16 million 

individuals for general medical care and specialized needs, and an additional 18 million people through

Specialized Care Services alone. In addition, by leveraging the buying power of nearly 35 million

Americans, UnitedHealth Group can access the best resources at the best prices — making care more

affordable for the consumer and fair to the care-giving community. 

We believe in simplifying the health care experience and have made significant and sustained investments

to do just that. We have adopted streamlined, more consistent processes and designed simpler, more under-

standable products and services, and we are using advanced system technologies to automate and speed

health care interactions, simplify administrative functions, advance information and lower costs. Uniprise is

realizing record growth and client satisfaction with technology solutions such as EmployerLink Net, which

gives employers and consultants instant, online, real-time access to add, update or verify health benefits and

data. EverCare, an Ovations business that serves approximately 19,000 frail, elderly people living in nursing

homes, is introducing technology called EverLink to make patients’ clinical information readily available to 

the nurse practitioners and physicians caring for them. And the Internet has become a major tool to serve 

customers and partners. Myuhc.com, for example, gives individual customers access to information on 
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Ingenix generated $375 million in revenues in 2000, a 45 percent increase, by providing knowledge and

information tools to help physicians and care providers, health insurers, other health organizations, and

pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers improve research and performance on behalf of those

they serve.

We must build upon past successes. So even as we continue to strengthen our overall performance,

we also continue to critically assess the health care system, the needs of those who use it or are part of

it, and our own contribution to advancing this important social marketplace.

THE HEALTH CARE ENVIRONMENT

Our American health care system is the most sophisticated, care-intensive and technology-rich system

in the world. It is not, however, an environment that is systematic by nature. Health care delivery is 

profoundly fragmented — among hospitals, clinics, primary care and specialist physicians, and drug and

medical device manufacturers. Care providers range from multi-billion-dollar enterprises to small, 

localized practitioners, each existing as freestanding, localized assets and resources usually accessed at

the discretion of the consumer. From a consumer’s perspective, the marketplace can be complex 

and confusing. 

Today, our society spends roughly 14 percent of its gross domestic product on health care-related

services and products, and that percentage will grow. With health care costs escalating well above the

internal growth rates of the population and economy, there remains significant pressure to eliminate

waste and maximize productivity within all aspects of health care. Yet, while other sectors of American

industry have made significant advancements in productivity and technology, the national health care

economic sector has yet to advance meaningful productivity improvement or extend its reach into 

our entire population. 

Adding to the challenge, the use of health care services is rising dramatically, and we expect the land-

scape will become increasingly complex. The increasing burden of chronic disease in an aging 

population with higher health expectations is resulting in greater complexity and higher costs. Demand is

expanding as consumers are empowered to take greater control over their health decisions, just as they are

overwhelmed with information and commercial influence from the media, the Internet and direct-to-consumer

advertising. Expanding scientific knowledge such as that associated with the human genome, new medical

technology, and new pharmaceutical and device technology, offers exciting opportunities to improve health,

but also poses challenges for cost-effectiveness and appropriate application. And as always, we need to 

continue to be vigilant about both the under-use of necessary and appropriate health care interventions, as

well as the equally concerning use of unnecessary or clinically improper interventions.  

Decades of sweeping attempts to rationalize the system — by well-intentioned participants, each

from their own point of view — have been unable to optimize the value and the potential within the

American health system. In working to improve health care efficiency, the marketplace has not yet 
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thousands of health topics and enables them to access services, such as requesting ID cards, viewing the

status of claims, searching for a physician and, depending on their coverage, renewing prescriptions.

Over the past two years, UnitedHealth Group has invested more than $400 million in technology

research, development and deployment. This ongoing investment in technology, initiated years ago 

and now accelerating, has provided significant service enhancements to our customers and major 

productivity gains for our company. Today, we have the most advanced technological tools and the most 

complete, clinically oriented databases in all of health care services. Our approach is helping physicians

focus on care and consumers focus on their health, not on the health care system.

We have an uncompromising belief in safe and fact-based medicine. Indeed, our Ingenix business

segment is devoted to gathering and sharing knowledge and information that will advance health care

quality and delivery. Across all of our businesses, we strive to advance care appropriateness, best 

practices and patient safety based on fact and scientific evidence. This principle even carries over to the

UnitedHealth Foundation, which distributed more than 1 million copies of the book Clinical Evidence

in 2000. Published by the British Medical Journal, this highly regarded reference guide of evidence-

based clinical health care generated an overwhelmingly positive response from the more than 400,000

doctors and 80,000 nurses who received it. 

Above all, we believe in helping people by facilitating care. Through Care Coordinationsm, possibly the

most acclaimed change to come to health care services in the past decade, UnitedHealthcare channels

resources to people who will benefit most from coordinating fragmented care delivery resources. As part of

Care Coordination, we dismantled pre-authorization processes and infrastructure in 1999 and redirected

those resources into improving decision-making, facilitating care delivery and advancing health outcomes

through physician and patient outreach. As a result, in 2000 we placed more than 250,000 telephone calls

to individuals with serious health care needs, helping them and their families to access, coordinate, 

manage and efficiently and effectively obtain the care they needed. Patients, families, physicians, employers,

regulators, legislators and other interested parties have responded very positively.  

Commitment to improved access, real choice, simplification, information and care facilitation, together

with underlying competencies in organizing health assets, clinical information capabilities and applying

technology, have propelled our success to date. More important, they will enable UnitedHealth Group to

continue to grow, progress and innovate, regardless of how or when the market evolves and changes. 

William W. McGuire, M.D.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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D I V E R S I F I C AT I O N  A N D  I N N O VAT I O N

• Throughout 2000, implemented a new approach
called Care Coordination, which eliminated
authorization processes and channels resources
into facilitating access to services

• In 2000, approximately 40% of UnitedHealth Group
earnings came from business segments other than
Health Care Services

• In total, less than 25% of UnitedHealth Group
earnings now come from UnitedHealthcare’s
commercial insured products

nitedHealth Group has prospered by recognizing that value is measured not only by price, 
but also by how well we meet individual customer demands for choice, control, quality 

and convenience. Through five primary operating businesses — UnitedHealthcare, Ovations,
Uniprise, Specialized Care Services and Ingenix — UnitedHealth Group serves the specific
needs of unique market segments. And by leveraging the collective expertise and capabilities 
of the companies within our family, we are advancing optimal health for all Americans and 
achieving unparalleled growth.

U

E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E 1R E V E N U E S (in billions) R E T U R N  O N  E Q U I T Y 1

1998       1999       2000                 

$1.31 $1.59 $2.10              

1998       1999       2000                 

$17.4 $19.6 $21.1             

1998       1999       2000                 

11.9 % 14.1% 19.0%             

1Excludes nonrecurring items and special operating charges. 1Excludes nonrecurring items and special operating charges.
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TECHNOLOGY AND PROCESS LEADERSHIP

• Invested more than $400 million in technology and
database development and deployment in 1999 
and 2000

• Introduced applications in Care CoordinationSM,
e-Billing and Predictive Modeling, and four Internet
portals dedicated to employers, care providers,
consumers, and brokers and agents

• In 2001, we will conclude a 30-month process
simplification and consolidation effort that produced
a 35% productivity advancement in 1999 and 2000

G R O W T H

• Achieved 21% compound annual revenue growth
over the past four years

• Added 3 million new individuals served in 2000 
to reach nearly 35 million Americans served by
UnitedHealth Group companies

• Achieved more than 94% overall customer retention
across member-based business segments

P E R F O R M A N C E 1 9 9 7 – 2 0 0 0

• 24% compound annual growth in earnings from
operations, excluding investment income

• 23% compound annual growth in earnings per share

• 31% compound annual growth in operating cash flows

• 22% compound annual growth in return on equity

P E R F O R M A N C E  I N  2 0 0 0

• Earnings from operations grew 27% to $1.2 billion 

• Operating cash flows grew 28% to more than 
$1.5 billion

• Operating margin grew 19% to 5.7%
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UnitedHealthcare

R E A L  C H O I C E

Understanding that people want

more choices, UnitedHealthcare

offers a broad range of products 

and services that allow customers 

to select benefits that are right 

for them.

D I R E C T  A C C E S S

UnitedHealthcare facilitates

access to broad and diverse

health care networks, and

designs benefit plans that 

give individuals direct access 

to specialists without 

obtaining referrals.

INFORMED DECISION-MAKING

By providing them with 

evidence-based clinical data,

UnitedHealthcare helps individuals

and physicians make more-informed

decisions about treatment options.

S I M P L I F I C AT I O N

UnitedHealthcare enhances 

the health care experience by

simplifying processes and using

advanced technology to improve

access to information and 

services, while driving down 

costs and improving operating

productivity.

C A R E  C O O R D I N AT I O N  

Care Coordination creates a  better,

more positive and effective health

care experience, according to 

89 percent of people surveyed 

about the program. In addition, 

83 percent said Care Coordination

made it easier for them to get the

care they needed.

A F F O R D A B I L I T Y

Leveraging the purchasing 

power of more than 16 million 

people, UnitedHealthcare 

provides access to services 

that are more affordable for 

customers and fair to physicians.

nitedHealthcare works to improve people’s health and make the health care experience 

simpler, more effective and more efficient for consumers, physicians and employers alike. With

basic principles such as direct access to specialists and the innovative Care Coordinationsm

approach, UnitedHealthcare is offering people simple solutions with more control and choice over

health decisions. And instead of continually looking over doctors’ shoulders, UnitedHealthcare

focuses its programs on prevention, education and closing the gaps in care. In the year 2000,

the company extended its people-oriented health services to more than 560,000 new individuals.

U
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R E V E N U E S (in billions) I N D I V I D U A L S  S E R V E D (in millions)

1998           1999            2000        

$12.0 $13.9 $15.0      7.7 7.8 8.4 8.5

12/31/98 12/31/99 12/31/00 1/31/01
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A A R P  H E A LT H  C A R E  O P T I O N S

With more than 30 million members, AARP is the nation’s leading organization representing Americans age 50 

and older. On behalf of AARP, Ovations provides the country’s largest single Medicare Supplement and Hospital

Indemnity offerings. Management of this program was assumed by Ovations in 1998, following five straight years

of declining membership. In 2000, this program achieved year-over-year membership growth and sharply reduced

lapse rates for its standardized Medicare Supplement plans. Of the 54 million claims received by the AARP division 

in the year 2000, more than 99 percent were processed within 10 days, with 99.8 percent financial accuracy. 

In addition to Medicare Supplement products, Ovations also offers AARP members a Pharmacy Discount Service,

hospital supplement products, and an eye health services program.

E V E R C A R E

In many ways, EverCare represents Care Coordinationsm tailored to the unique needs of the frail elderly —  delivered

through EverCare’s unique teams of geriatric nurse practitioners and physicians. Because of this program, EverCare

enrollees have avoided serious illness requiring hospitalization, resulting in a 40 percent lower rate in admissions. 

The EverCare pneumonia Care Coordination program, which was introduced in 1999, has led to a 48 percent drop 

in mortality from pneumonia among EverCare members.

Effective February 2001, EverCare merged with Lifemark to become, by far, the nation’s largest enterprise dedicated

exclusively to the health and well-being needs of the frail, vulnerable and chronically ill elderly. In 2001, EverCare

revenues are expected to exceed $500 million.

dults 50 and older represent America’s single largest consumer group. They represent half of total

consumer demand, 65 percent of total net worth, and hold 70 percent of all personal financial

assets in this country. Today, this age group numbers 76 million individuals, and in the year 2010,

Americans age 50 and older will represent more than 40 percent of the total population. Ovations is

dedicated to serving this rapidly growing and diverse group of consumers by delivering products and

services designed to meet their unique health and well-being needs. Currently, Ovations serves more

than 3.5 million individuals and is the country’s largest business totally dedicated to this population.

Ovations
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R E V E N U E S (in billions)

1998           1999            2000        

$3.6 $3.6 $3.7      

I N D I V I D U A L S  S E R V E D
(as of Jan. 31, 2001)

AARP Division

• Medicare Supplement: 2.2 million

• Hospital Indemnity: 1.5 million

EverCare

• Core Business: 18,600

• Lifemark (acquired Feb. 2001): 140,000
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T H E  U N I P R I S E  D I F F E R E N C E

Uniprise serves approximately 8 million Americans through relationships with more than 260 of America’s largest and most

demanding companies. Uniprise’s 23 percent year-over-year growth through January 2001 was its strongest performance

to date. Nearly 1.5 million new individuals were served by Uniprise in the past 12 months. The reasons for this are simple:

elite, dedicated service to the large corporate marketplace, anchored in the most advanced technology applications and

with access to the broadest and most diversified health care and benefit networks available to the market today. 

S E R V I C E  I N N O VAT I O N

Technology-based service is a distinctive element of Uniprise's position in this rapidly growing market. Internet technology

has created a new channel for providing health information and services to individuals, physicians, employers and brokers,

while also reducing transaction and support expenses.  

Through Web-based tools such as EmployerLink Net, employers and consultants have instant, real-time, online access 

to update information, verify benefits or check the status on a wide range of factors specific to their service needs. Uniprise

customers also conduct sophisticated analyses on financial and clinical trends using this Web technology, which links

directly to their specific data within our data warehouse. 

niprise develops and executes customized and highly integrated services to address benefit 

delivery and service needs of large, complex, multi-location employers. Through Uniprise, national

employers have access to the full range of UnitedHealth Group networks and services and the ease of

integrated administration for all employee services. An intense focus on service excellence, including

new Web-enabled service capabilities, has helped Uniprise improve the service experience for clients

and consumers alike. Today, Uniprise is the fastest-growing large group service business in America,

providing services for more than 25 percent of companies in the Fortune 500.

Uniprise

U
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R E V E N U E S (in billions) I N D I V I D U A L S  S E R V E D (in millions)

Client Retention Rate — 99%

1998           1999            2000        

$1.6 $1.9 $2.1      5.4 6.0 6.7 7.8

12/31/98 12/31/99 12/31/00 1/31/01
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U N I T E D  B E H AV I O R A L
H E A LT H

A leading provider of network-based

employee assistance and mental

health/substance abuse services,

United Behavioral Health’s services

emphasize early intervention 

and direct access to the most 

appropriate care. 

U N I T E D  R E S O U R C E  
N E T W O R K S

A provider of network-based 

transplantation and catastrophic

care services, its strength lies 

in using clinical information to 

create, enhance and promote 

access to specialized networks 

and provide complex case 

management services.

C O O R D I N AT E D  
V I S I O N  C A R E

Providing network-based vision

benefit management services,

Coordinated Vision Care brings

value to customers by contracting

directly with care providers, frame 

suppliers and lens laboratories.

N AT I O N A L  B E N E F I T
R E S O U R C E S

Offering network-based cost 

management services and 

benefit products for self-insured

employers, National Benefit

Resources leverages UnitedHealth

Group’s broader capabilities to 

better serve and penetrate this 

market segment.

D E N TA L  B E N E F I T
P R O V I D E R S

One of the nation’s largest 

network-based dental services

companies, Dental Benefit

Providers offers access 

to affordable care along with

innovative product choices.

U N I M E R I C A

By providing life, accident and

critical illness benefits that 

supplement basic health plans,

Unimerica enables customers 

to tailor benefits to their personal

circumstances and needs.

O P T U M ®

Addressing the full spectrum of

health and well-being, Optum

enables personalized delivery 

of consumer information and

resources using the Internet, 

telephone, print, e-mail, fax, 

audiotape and personal support.

pecialized Care Services is an expanding portfolio of health and well-being companies, each

dedicated to serving a specific market need by offering a unique blend of benefits, provider 

networks, services and resources. Through its subsidiary companies, Specialized Care Services

provides access to a broad range of specialized services to enhance basic health care. Strong

demand for these service offerings drove revenues for this business segment up more than 30 percent

in 2000. Going forward, Specialized Care Services will continue to look for and develop additional 

consumer-oriented services that help support people’s total well-being.

Specialized Care Services

S
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I N D I V I D U A L S  S E R V E D
(as of Jan. 31, 2001)

• United Behavioral Health
18.7 million

• Optum
19.9 million

• Dental Benefit Providers
2.4 million

• Coordinated Vision Care
1.2 million

R E V E N U E S (in millions)

1998       1999       2000                

$618 $726 $974           
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I N G E N I X  P H A R M A C E U T I C A L  S E R V I C E S

Ingenix Pharmaceutical Services speeds the product

development process. As part of UnitedHealth Group, 

the company has access to a comprehensive 

longitudinal database of more than 15 million patients. 

Its in-depth knowledge and expertise in working 

with all key constituents in health care give Ingenix

Pharmaceutical Services the unique ability to view 

drug challenges and opportunities from multiple 

vantage points. Its services include:

• Clinical trials services and outcomes

• Pharmacoeconomic and safety research

• Medical education

• Regulatory and strategic marketing services for 
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device
manufacturers

Ingenix

I N G E N I X  H E A LT H  I N T E L L I G E N C E

Ingenix Health Intelligence, a leader in the multi-billion-dollar market for health care information, offers a breadth

of informatics products and services, combined with depth of knowledge and experience, and innovative data,

analytic and predictive approaches to solving problems. 

mproved knowledge and information are key to improving health and well-being. Accurate, 

unbiased research and information help improve the effectiveness of care by supporting fact-based

clinical and financial decisions. Which treatment leads to the best outcome? What is the safest, most

effective care intervention between newly introduced medical technology and an established 

practice? Is a potential new prescription drug better than existing drug options? Through its two 

divisions — Ingenix Health Intelligence and Ingenix Pharmaceutical Services — Ingenix provides

answers to these and other important questions for clients around the world.

I
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Data and Software Products

• Cost and utilization reporting 
and analysis

• Billing and reimbursement editing 
and coding

• Fraud and abuse detection

• Care provider fee schedules

• HEDIS reporting

• Quality profiling

• Workers compensation and 
disability insurance repricing 
and support

Print and Electronic Publications

• Coding and reimbursement 
information

• Information about new regulatory
developments

• Best practices data

Consulting Services

• Actuarial and financial disciplines

• Product development

• Care provider contracting and
medical policy

• Management consulting

• Health services evaluation 
and delivery 

R E V E N U E S (in millions)

1998           1999            2000        

$184 $258 $375      
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2000  F INANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

2000 was the strongest year in the history of UnitedHealth Group, resulting from diversified business growth 
and continued productivity improvements. Financial performance highlights include1:
• Record revenues of $21.1 billion, a 12% increase in continuing markets over 1999. 
• Record operating earnings of $1.2 billion, up 27% over 1999, with each segment delivering strong year-over-

year revenue and operating earnings advances.
• Record net earnings applicable to common shareholders of $705 million, and diluted net earnings per common

share of $2.10, representing increases over 1999 of 25% and 32%, respectively.
• Record cash flows of more than $1.5 billion generated from operating activities, an increase of 28% over 1999. 
• Return on shareholders’ equity of 19.0%, up from 14.1% in 1999.
1 Where applicable, 2000 and 1999 results exclude the effects of separate dispositions of UnitedHealth Capital investments.

Following is a five-year summary of selected financial data:
For the Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Consolidated Operating Results
Revenues $ 21,122 $ 19,562 $ 17,355 $ 11,794 $ 10,074
Earnings (Loss) From Operations $ 1,200 $ 943 $ (42)3 $ 742 $ 581 4

Net Earnings (Loss) $ 736 1 $ 568 2 $ (166) $ 460 $ 356 4

Net Earnings (Loss) Applicable 
to Common Shareholders $ 736 $ 568 $ (214)3 $ 431 $ 327 

Basic Net Earnings (Loss) 
per Common Share $ 2.27 $ 1.63 $ (0.56) $ 1.15 $ 0.90 

Diluted Net Earnings (Loss)
per Common Share $ 2.19 1 $ 1.60 2 $ (0.56)3 $ 1.13 $ 0.88 4

Common Stock Dividends per Share $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 $ 0.02 

Consolidated Cash Flows 
From Operating Activities $ 1,521 $ 1,189 $ 1,071 $ 683 $ 562 

Consolidated Financial Condition
(As of December 31)

Cash and Investments $ 5,053 $ 4,719 $ 4,424 $ 4,041 $ 3,453 
Total Assets $ 11,053 $ 10,273 $ 9,675 $ 7,623 $ 6,997 
Debt $ 1,209 $ 991 $ 708 5 $ – $ –
Convertible Preferred Stock $ – $ – $ – 5 $ 500 $ 500 
Shareholders’ Equity $ 3,688 $ 3,863 $ 4,038 $ 4,534 $ 3,823
Return on Shareholders’ Equity 19.0% 14.1% na 3 10.4 % 9.2%4

Results of Operations should be read together with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
1 2000 results include a $14 million net permanent tax benefit related to the contribution of UnitedHealth Capital investments to the UnitedHealth Foundation and a $27 million
gain ($17 million after tax) related to a separate disposition of UnitedHealth Capital investments. Excluding these items, net earnings and diluted net earnings per common share
were $705 million and $2.10 per share for the year ended December 31, 2000.
2 1999 results include a net permanent tax benefit primarily related to the contribution of UnitedHealth Capital investments to the UnitedHealth Foundation. Excluding this 
benefit, net earnings and diluted net earnings per common share were $563 million and $1.59 per share.
3 Excluding the operational realignment and other charges of $725 million, $175 million of charges related to contract losses associated with certain Medicare markets and other
increases to commercial and Medicare medical costs payable estimates, and the $20 million convertible preferred stock redemption premium from 1998 results, earnings from
operations and net earnings applicable to common shareholders would have been $858 million and $509 million, or $1.31 diluted net earnings per common share, and return on
shareholders’ equity would have been 11.9%.
4 Excluding the merger costs associated with the acquisition of HealthWise of America, Inc. of $15 million ($9 million after tax) and the provision for future losses on two multi-year
contracts of $45 million ($27 million after tax), 1996 earnings from operations and net earnings would have been $641 million and $392 million, or $0.98 diluted net earnings per 
common share, and return on shareholders’ equity would have been 10.2%.
5 During 1998, we issued debt totaling $708 million and redeemed $500 million of convertible preferred stock.

na —  not applicable

19

R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R AT I O N S   UnitedHealth Group
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F I N A N C I A L  R E V I E W

“With each of our business segments reporting record results in the

year 2000, we continue our progress as one of the most dynamic

growth companies in America.”
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2000  RESULTS  COMPARED TO 1999  RESULTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenues
Revenues are comprised of premium revenue associated with insured products, fees associated with
management, administrative and consulting services, and investment and other income.

Consolidated revenues increased in 2000 to $21.1 billion. Strong and balanced growth across all business
segments was partially offset by transitions in certain geographic and Medicare markets. Adjusted for the effects
of these market transitions, consolidated revenues increased approximately $2.2 billion, or 12%, over 1999.
Following is a discussion of 2000 consolidated revenue trends for each of our three revenue components.

Premium Revenues Consolidated premium revenues in 2000 totaled $18.9 billion, an increase of $1.4 billion,
or 8%, compared with 1999. This increase was driven by two primary factors: premium yield increases on
UnitedHealthcare’s commercial insured business, and growth in individuals served. These increases were 
partially offset by transitions in certain geographic and Medicare markets. Adjusted for the effect of these
market transitions, premium revenues increased 12% over 1999.

Management Services Fee Revenues Fee revenues in 2000 totaled $2.0 billion, representing an increase of
$171 million, or 10%, over 1999. The overall increase in fee revenues is primarily the result of record growth
in Uniprise’s multi-site customer base, growth in UnitedHealthcare’s fee-based business, modest price
increases, and acquisitions and growth from our Specialized Care Services and Ingenix businesses.

Investment and Other Income Investment and other income during the year ended December 31, 2000,
totaled $232 million, representing an increase of $13 million over 1999. Higher interest yields on investments in
2000 compared with 1999 were largely offset by $34 million of net realized capital losses in 2000. Net realized
capital losses were $6 million in 1999.

Medical Costs
The combination of pricing and care coordination efforts is reflected in the medical care ratio (medical costs as a
percentage of premium revenues).

Our consolidated medical care ratio decreased from 85.7% in 1999 to 85.4% in 2000. Excluding AARP
business, on a year-over-year basis, the medical care ratio decreased 30 basis points to 83.9%. Decreases in our
year-over-year medical care ratios are attributable to commercial net premium yield increases exceeding the
underlying increase in total benefit costs.

On an absolute dollar basis, the increase in medical costs of $1.1 billion, or 7%, over 1999 was driven by a
combination of growth in individuals served with insured products, medical cost inflation, benefit changes and
product mix changes.
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Operating Costs
Operating costs as a percentage of total revenues (the operating cost ratio) was 16.7% in 2000, compared with
17.1% in 1999. This decrease was primarily driven by productivity increases achieved through process
improvement, technology deployment and cost reduction initiatives, and by further leveraging the fixed cost
components of our infrastructure. 

Changes in revenue mix also affect the operating cost ratio. For our fastest-growing businesses (Uniprise,
Specialized Care Services and Ingenix), most direct costs of revenue are included in operating costs, not medical
costs. Using a revenue mix comparable to 1999, the 2000 operating cost ratio would have decreased 80 basis
points to 16.3%.

On an absolute dollar basis, operating costs increased by $177 million, or 5%, over 1999. This increase
reflects the additional costs to support product and technology development initiatives, and to support the 
8% increase in consolidated revenues in 2000, partially offset by the benefit of productivity and technology
improvements discussed above.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization was $247 million in 2000 and $233 million in 1999. This increase resulted primarily
from increased levels of capital expenditures to support business growth and technology enhancements, and the
amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets related to acquisitions.

Income Taxes  
Our 2000 income tax provision includes nonrecurring tax benefits primarily related to the contribution of
UnitedHealth Capital investments to the UnitedHealth Foundation. Excluding nonrecurring tax benefits, our
effective income tax rate was 37.5% in 2000 and 37.0% in 1999.

BUSINESS  SEGMENTS  

The following summarizes the operating results of our business segments for the years ended December 31 
(in millions):

Revenues
Percent

2000 1999 Change

Health Care Services $ 18,696 $ 17,581 6%
Uniprise 2,140 1,865 15%
Specialized Care Services 974 726 34%
Ingenix 375 258 45%
Corporate and Eliminations (1,063) (868) nm

Consolidated Revenues $ 21,122 $ 19,562 8%

Earnings from Operations
Percent

2000 1999 Change

Health Care Services $ 739 $ 578 28%
Uniprise 289 222 30%
Specialized Care Services 174 128 36%
Ingenix 32 25 28%

Total Operating Segments 1,234 953 29%
Corporate (34) (10) nm

Consolidated Earnings from Operations $ 1,200 $ 943 27%
nm —  not meaningful
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Uniprise
Uniprise provides network-based health and well-being services, business-to-business transactional 
infrastructure services, consumer connectivity, and technology support for large employers and health plans.
Uniprise revenues of $2.1 billion increased by $275 million, or 15%, over 1999. This increase was driven primarily
by continued growth in Uniprise’s large multi-site customer base, which had an 11% increase in individuals
served, as well as changes in funding arrangements selected by certain customers and price increases on 
fee-based business. Uniprise served 6.7 million and 6.0 million individuals as of December 31, 2000 and 1999,
respectively. Uniprise’s earnings from operations grew by $67 million, or 30%, over 1999 as a result of the
increased revenues, and operating margin improved to 13.5% in 2000 from 11.9% in 1999. As revenues 
have increased, Uniprise has expanded its operating margin by improving productivity through process
improvement initiatives, increased deployment of technology and by further leveraging the fixed cost 
components of its infrastructure. 

Specialized Care Services
Specialized Care Services is an expanding portfolio of health and well-being companies, each serving a
specialized market need with a unique blend of benefits, provider networks, services and resources. Specialized
Care Services’ revenues of $974 million increased by $248 million, or 34%, over 1999. This increase was driven
primarily by an increase in the number of individuals served by United Behavioral Health, its mental health and
substance abuse services business, and the acquisitions of Dental Benefit Providers, Inc. in June 1999 and
National Benefit Resources, Inc. in November 1999. Earnings from operations of $174 million increased by 
36% compared with 1999, commensurate with 2000 revenue growth. Specialized Care Services’ operating
margin improved from 17.6% in 1999 to 17.9% in 2000.

Ingenix
Ingenix is a leader in the field of health care data and information, research analysis and application, serving
pharmaceutical companies, health insurers and payers, care providers, large employers and governments.
Revenues of $375 million increased by $117 million, or 45%, over 1999 driven by organic growth of $54 million
and 1999 acquisitions that broadened the business franchise in clinical research and development, clinical
marketing and data mining. Earnings from operations of $32 million increased 28% over 1999. Operating margin
decreased to 8.5% in 2000 from 9.7% in 1999, principally as a result of increased goodwill amortization expense
associated with acquisitions.

Corporate
Corporate includes investment income derived from cash and investments not assigned to operating segments
and the company-wide costs associated with process improvement initiatives. The decrease of $24 million in 2000
earnings reflects a decline in the level of unassigned cash and investments and associated investment income,
primarily resulting from share repurchases and incremental 2000 process improvement costs.
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Health Care Services
The Health Care Services segment consists of the UnitedHealthcare and Ovations businesses. UnitedHealthcare
coordinates network-based health and well-being services on behalf of local employers and consumers
nationwide. Ovations, which administers Medicare Supplement benefits on behalf of AARP, offers health and
well-being services for Americans age 50 and older. 

The Health Care Services segment posted record revenues of $18.7 billion, representing an increase of 
$1.1 billion, or 6%, over 1999. This increase is primarily attributable to premium yield increases on
UnitedHealthcare’s commercial business and growth in individuals served in continuing markets, partially offset
by targeted pullbacks in certain geographic and Medicare markets. Adjusted for the effects of these market
transitions, Health Care Services’ revenues increased by 10% on a year-over-year basis. 

The Health Care Services segment contributed earnings from operations of $739 million in 2000, an increase
of $161 million, or 28%, over 1999. This increase is primarily the result of improved margins on
UnitedHealthcare’s commercial business and reduced operating costs as a percentage of revenues, driven by
process improvement, technology deployment and cost reduction initiatives. Health Care Services’ operating
margin increased to 4.0% in 2000 from 3.3% in 1999.

UnitedHealthcare’s commercial medical care ratio improved to 84.1% in 2000 from 84.6% in 1999, driven by 
net premium yield increases in excess of underlying medical costs. Commercial health plan premium rates are
established based on anticipated benefit costs, including the effects of medical cost inflation, benefit changes
and product mix.

UnitedHealthcare’s year-over-year Medicare enrollment decreased 7% as a result of actions taken to better
position this program for long-term success. Effective January 1, 2000 and 2001, UnitedHealthcare withdrew its
Medicare+Choice product from targeted counties affecting 40,000 individuals and 56,000 individuals, respec-
tively. These actions reduce Medicare enrollment, but improve profitability in the long term relative to the cost of
capital and required resource management. 

The following table summarizes individuals served by UnitedHealthcare, by major market segment and
funding arrangement, as of December 31 (in thousands):

2000 1999

Commercial
Insured 5,495 5,150
Fee-based 1,927 1,745

Total Commercial 7,422 6,8951

Medicare 406 437
Medicaid 549 479

Total UnitedHealthcare 8,377 7,811
1 Excludes individuals served through UnitedHealthcare platforms located in Puerto Rico and Pacific Coast regions. As of December 31, 2000, UnitedHealthcare had 
substantially transitioned from these markets. Including these markets, individuals served at December 31, 1999 were:

Commercial
Insured 5,650
Fee-based 1,887 

Total Commercial 7,537 
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BUSINESS  SEGMENTS  

The following summarizes the operating results of our business segments for the years ended December 31 
(in millions):

Revenues Percent
1999 1998 Change

Health Care Services $ 17,581 $ 15,612 13%
Uniprise 1,865 1,624 15%
Specialized Care Services 726 618 17%
Ingenix 258 184 40%
Corporate and Eliminations (868) (683) nm

Consolidated Revenues $ 19,562 $ 17,355 13%

Earnings from Operations Percent
1999 1998 1 Change

Health Care Services $ 578 $ 503 15%
Uniprise 222 161 38%
Specialized Care Services 128 109 17%
Ingenix 25 20 25%

Total Operating Segments 953 793 20%
Corporate (10) 65 nm

Consolidated Earnings from Operations $ 943 $ 858 10%
1 Excludes $725 million of operational realignment and other charges and $175 million of charges related to contract losses associated with certain Medicare markets and other
increases to commercial and Medicare medical costs payable estimates.

nm — not meaningful

Health Care Services
The Health Care Services segment posted revenues of $17.6 billion, representing an increase of $2.0 billion, or 
13%, over 1998. This increase was primarily attributable to UnitedHealthcare’s net premium yield increases on
commercial business and the acquisition of HealthPartners of Arizona, Inc.

The Health Care Services segment contributed earnings from operations of $578 million in 1999, an increase
of $75 million, or 15%, over 1998. This increase is primarily due to growth in the average number of individuals
served by UnitedHealthcare during 1999 and reduced operating costs as a percentage of revenues driven by our
process improvement initiatives.

UnitedHealthcare’s commercial medical care ratio improved to 84.6% in 1999 from 84.9% in 1998 (excluding
1998 special operating charges), driven by net premium yield increases in excess of underlying medical costs. 
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1999  RESULTS  COMPARED TO 1998  RESULTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenues
Consolidated revenues increased 13% in 1999 to $19.6 billion, reflecting balanced growth across all business
segments. Following is a discussion of 1999 consolidated revenue trends for each of our three revenue components.

Premium Revenues  Consolidated premium revenues in 1999 totaled $17.6 billion, an increase of $2.0 billion, or
13%, compared to 1998. This increase was primarily driven by premium yield increases on UnitedHealthcare’s
commercial insured business, growth in the number of individuals served by United Behavioral Health and the
acquisitions of HealthPartners of Arizona, Inc. and Dental Benefit Providers, Inc.

Management Services Fee Revenues  Management services fee revenues in 1999 totaled $1.8 billion, 
representing an increase of $203 million, or 13%, over 1998. The overall increase in management services fee
revenues was primarily the result of strong growth in Uniprise’s multi-site customer base, price increases in fee
business, and acquisitions and growth from our Ingenix business.

Investment and Other Income Investment and other income during the year ended December 31, 1999,
totaled $219 million, representing a decrease of $30 million from 1998. This decrease is primarily the result of
net realized capital losses from the sale of investments in 1999 in contrast to net realized capital gains in 1998,
along with decreases in cash and investments and associated investment income resulting from our stock
repurchase activities and business acquisitions. Rising interest rates during 1999 resulted in declines in the fair
value of fixed income investments, and we realized net capital losses of $6 million during 1999. For the year
ended December 31, 1998, realized net capital gains were $26 million.

Medical Costs
The consolidated medical care ratio decreased to 85.7% in 1999 from 87.2% in 1998. Excluding the AARP
business and the effects of 1998 special charges, on a year-over-year basis, the medical care ratio decreased 
10 basis points to 84.2%.

On an absolute dollar basis, the increase in medical costs of $1.5 billion, or 11%, over 1998 was driven by a
combination of growth in individuals served with insured products, medical cost inflation, benefit changes and
product mix changes. 

Operating Costs
Operating costs as a percentage of total revenues (the operating cost ratio) was 17.1% in 1999, consistent
with 1998. Operating cost reductions in 1999 were partially offset by $39 million of incremental expenses in
1999 related to process improvement initiatives and platform system conversions. On a comparable revenue
mix basis, the operating cost ratio would have decreased 30 basis points to 16.8%.

On an absolute dollar basis, operating costs increased by $379 million, or 13%, over 1998. This increase
reflects the additional costs to support the corresponding 13% increase in consolidated revenues in 1999, and
the incremental process improvement expenses described above.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization was $233 million in 1999 and $185 million in 1998. The increase in 1999 resulted
from increased levels of capital expenditures in 1998 and 1999 to support business growth and technology
enhancements and amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets.
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Our accompanying financial statements include the operating results of businesses and markets disposed of
or discontinued, and markets we have exited in connection with the operational realignment. The accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations include revenues and operating earnings (losses) from businesses
disposed of and markets exited for the years ended December 31, as follows (in millions):

2000 1999 1998

Revenues $ 312 $ 689 $ 964 
Earnings (Loss) From Operations $ 9 $ (41) $ (52)

The table above does not include operating results from the counties where UnitedHealthcare withdrew its
Medicare product offerings effective January 1, 2000, and January 1, 2001. Annual revenues for 1999 from the
counties exited effective January 1, 2000, were approximately $230 million. Annual revenues for 2000 from the
counties exited effective January 1, 2001, were approximately $320 million.

During 2000, we finalized our agreement with Blue Shield of California to transition approximately 210,000
individuals served by our California health plan. Additionally, we transitioned approximately 75,000 individuals
served by our Oregon and Washington health plans to Premera BlueCross and LifeWise. These actions conclude
our planned transition to concentrate resources in the Pacific Coast region on Uniprise national, multi-site
customers and Specialized Care Services customers. We have also transitioned out of the market in Puerto Rico.
The balances accrued in our operational realignment and other charges were sufficient to cover expenses incurred
in the sale and exit of our operations in these markets.

The operational realignment and other charges do not cover certain aspects of the Plan, including new infor-
mation systems, data conversions, process re-engineering, temporary duplicate staffing costs as we consolidate
processing centers, and employee relocation and training. These costs are expensed as incurred or capitalized,
as appropriate. During 2000, 1999 and 1998, we incurred expenses of approximately $57 million, $52 million and
$13 million, respectively, related to these activities.

We expect to complete our realignment initiatives during 2001. Based on current facts and circumstances,
we believe our remaining accrued liability for realignment initiatives of $65 million will be adequate to cover the
costs to be incurred in executing the remainder of the Plan. 

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY  AT  DECEMBER 31 ,  2000   

During 2000, we generated cash from operations of more than $1.5 billion, an increase of $332 million, or 28%,
over 1999. The increase in operating cash flows resulted from an increase of $182 million in net income excluding 
depreciation and amortization expense, working capital improvements of approximately $57 million, and 
$93 million related to income tax benefits resulting from employee stock option exercises.

We maintained a strong financial condition and liquidity position, with cash and investments of $5.1 billion at
December 31, 2000. Total cash and investments increased by $334 million since December 31, 1999, primarily
resulting from strong cash flows from operations partially offset by common stock repurchases.

As further described under "Regulatory Capital and Dividend Restrictions," many of our subsidiaries are subject to
various government regulations. At December 31, 2000, approximately $327 million of our $5.1 billion of cash and
investments was held by non-regulated subsidiaries. Of this amount, approximately $65 million was available for
general corporate use, including acquisitions and share repurchases. The remaining $262 million consists of public and
non-public equity securities primarily held by UnitedHealth Capital, our venture and development capital business. Our
operating cash flows and financing capability also provide us with funds, as needed, for general corporate use.

As of December 31, 2000, we had $409 million of commercial paper outstanding, with interest rates ranging
from 6.6% to 6.9%. In July 2000, we executed new credit arrangements supporting our commercial paper
program for an aggregate of $900 million. These credit arrangements are composed of a $450 million revolving
facility expiring in July 2005, and a $450 million, 364-day facility expiring in July 2001. We also have the capacity
to issue approximately $200 million of extendible commercial notes (ECNs). During 2000, we had no amounts
outstanding under our credit facilities or ECNs. During 2000, we also issued $400 million of five-year 7.5% senior
unsecured notes.
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The following table summarizes individuals served by UnitedHealthcare, by major market segment and
funding arrangement, as of December 31 (in thousands)1:

1999 1998

Commercial
Insured 5,150 5,141
Fee-based 1,745 1,616

Total Commercial 6,895 6,757
Medicare 437 482
Medicaid 479 430

Total UnitedHealthcare 7,811 7,669 
1 Excludes individuals served through UnitedHealthcare platforms in Puerto Rico and Pacific Coast regions. The company has transitioned these markets.

Uniprise
Uniprise’s revenues increased by $241 million, or 15%, over 1998 driven primarily by continued growth in 
its large multi-site customer base, which had an 11% increase in individuals served, and price increases on 
fee-based business. Uniprise served 6.0 million individuals as of December 31, 1999, and 5.4 million individuals
as of December 31, 1998. Uniprise’s earnings from operations grew by $61 million, or 38%, over 1998 as a
result of the increased revenues, ongoing process improvement initiatives and improved operating margins on
insured business.

Specialized Care Services
Specialized Care Services’ revenues increased by $108 million, or 17%, over 1998. This increase was driven
primarily by an increase in the number of individuals served by United Behavioral Health, and the acquisition of
Dental Benefit Providers, Inc. in June 1999. Earnings from operations of $128 million increased by 17% compared
with 1998, commensurate with 1999 revenue growth.

Ingenix
Revenues increased by $74 million, or 40%, over 1998 primarily as a result of acquisitions during the last half of
1998 and during 1999. Earnings from operations of $25 million represented an increase of 25% over 1998.

Corporate
The decrease of $75 million in 1999 Corporate earnings was attributable to $39 million of incremental process
improvement costs over 1998 levels, and a decline in the level of unassigned cash and investments and
associated investment income, which resulted primarily from share repurchases and business acquisitions.

OPERATIONAL REALIGNMENT AND OTHER CHARGES   

In conjunction with our operational realignment initiatives, we developed and, in the second quarter of 1998,
approved a comprehensive plan (the Plan) to implement our operational realignment. We recognized corre-
sponding charges to operations of $725 million in the second quarter of 1998, which reflected the estimated
costs to be incurred under the Plan. The charges included costs associated with asset impairments; employee
terminations; disposing of or discontinuing business units, product lines and contracts; and consolidating and
eliminating certain claim processing operations and associated real estate obligations.
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QUANTITATIVE  AND QUALITATIVE  DISCLOSURES  ABOUT MARKET RISK   

Market risk represents the risk of changes in value of a financial instrument caused by fluctuations in interest
rates and equity prices.

Approximately $4.8 billion of our cash and investments at December 31, 2000, was invested in fixed income
securities. We manage our investment portfolio within risk parameters approved by our board of directors;
however, our fixed income securities are subject to the effects of market fluctuations in interest rates. Assuming a
hypothetical and immediate 1% increase or decrease in interest rates applicable to our fixed income portfolio at
December 31, 2000, the fair value of our fixed income investments would decrease or increase by approximately
$140 million.

INFLATION  

The national health care cost inflation rate exceeds the general inflation rate. We use various strategies 
to mitigate the negative effects of health care cost inflation, including setting commercial premiums based on
anticipated health care costs, coordinating care with various health care providers, and using various health care
cost containment measures. Specifically, health plans try to control medical and hospital costs through contracts
with independent providers of health care services. Through these contracted care providers, our health plans
emphasize preventive health care, appropriate use of specialty and hospital services, education and closing
gaps in care.

We believe our strategies to mitigate the impact of health care cost inflation will be successful. However,
other factors such as competitive pressures, new health care and pharmaceutical product introductions,
demands from health care providers and consumers, applicable regulations or other factors may affect our ability
to control the impact of health care cost increases. 

LEGAL MATTERS   

Because of the nature of our business, we are routinely subject to suits alleging various causes of action. Some
of these suits may include claims for substantial non-economic or punitive damages. We do not believe that any
such actions, or any other types of actions, currently threatened or pending will, individually or in the aggregate,
have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

CAUTIONAR Y  STATEMENT REGARDING "FORWARD-LOOKING"  STATEMENTS  

The statements contained in Results of Operations, and other sections of this annual report to shareholders,
include forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
(the PSLRA). When used herein, the words or phrases "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "will
likely result," "estimates," "projects" or similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking
statements. Any of these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause the
company’s actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Statements that are not strictly historical are "forward-looking" statements under the safe harbor provisions of
the PSLRA. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, which may cause actual results
and corporate developments to differ materially from those expected. Factors that could cause results and
developments to differ materially from expectations include, without limitation:  the effects of state and federal
regulations, the effects of acquisitions and divestitures, and other risks described from time to time in each of
UnitedHealth Group’s SEC reports, including quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, annual reports on Form 10-K
and reports on Form 8-K. 
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Our debt arrangements and credit facilities contain various covenants, the most restrictive of which place
limitations on secured and unsecured borrowings and require us to exceed minimum interest coverage levels. We
are in compliance with the requirements of all debt covenants. Our senior debt is rated "A" by Standard & Poor’s
and Fitch (formerly known as Duff & Phelps), and "A3" by Moody’s. Our commercial paper and ECN programs are
rated "A-1" by Standard & Poor’s, "F-1" by Fitch, and "P-2" by Moody’s.

The remaining aggregate issuing capacity of all securities covered by shelf registration statements for
common stock, preferred stock, debt securities and other securities is $850 million. We may publicly offer such
securities from time to time at prices and terms to be determined at the time of offering.

Under the board of directors’ authorization, we are operating a common stock repurchase program.
Repurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume,
pricing and timing. During the 12 months ended December 31, 2000, we repurchased 31.0 million shares at an
aggregate cost of $1.2 billion. Through December 31, 2000, we had repurchased approximately 92.9 million
shares for an aggregate cost of $2.6 billion since the inception of the program in November of 1997. In December
of 1998, we also repurchased $500 million of preferred stock that was convertible into 20.2 million shares of
common stock. As of December 31, 2000, we have board of directors’ authorization to purchase up to an
additional 28.4 million shares of our common stock.

In October 2000, the board of directors declared a two-for-one split of the company’s common stock in the
form of a 100 percent common stock dividend. This dividend was issued on December 22, 2000, to shareholders
of record as of December 1, 2000. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been restated to
reflect the share and per share effects of the common stock split.

We expect our available cash and investment resources, operating cash flows and financing capability will be
sufficient to meet our current operating requirements and other corporate development initiatives. A substantial
portion of our long-term investments (approximately $3.3 billion as of December 31, 2000) is classified as
available for sale. Subject to the previously described regulations, these investments may be used to fund
working capital or for other purposes.

Currently, we do not have any other material definitive commitments that require cash resources; however,
we continually evaluate opportunities to expand our operations. This includes internal development of new
products and programs and may include acquisitions.

During 1999, we formed and initiated funding of the UnitedHealth Foundation. Through December 31, 2000,
we made contributions to the UnitedHealth Foundation using a portion of our UnitedHealth Capital investments
valued at approximately $100 million on the dates contributed. The UnitedHealth Foundation is dedicated to
improving Americans’ health and well-being by supporting consumer and physician education and awareness
programs, generating objective information that will contribute to improving health care delivery, and sponsoring
community-based health and well-being activities.

REGULATOR Y CAPITAL AND DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS  

Our operations are conducted through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, which include health maintenance organ-
izations and insurance companies. These companies are subject to state regulations that, among other things,
may require the maintenance of minimum levels of statutory capital, as defined by each state, and restrict the
timing and amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their respective parent companies.
Generally, the amount of dividend distributions that may be paid by our regulated subsidiaries, without prior
approval by state regulatory authorities, is limited based on the entity’s level of statutory net income and statutory
capital and surplus.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has developed minimum capitalization guidelines for
health maintenance organizations, subject to state-by-state adoption. Many states have adopted and other states
will likely adopt some form of these rules. We do not expect that further state adoptions or implementations will
require us to make significant incremental investments of general corporate resources into regulated subsidiaries.
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As of December 31,
(in millions, except share and per share data) 2000 1999

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,419 $ 1,605 
Short-Term Investments 200 546
Accounts Receivable, net of allowances of $118 and $117 867 912
Assets Under Management 1,646 1,328
Other Current Assets 273 177

Total Current Assets 4,405 4,568
Long-Term Investments 3,434 2,568
Property and Equipment, net of accumulated 

depreciation of $513 and $482 303 278
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, net of accumulated 

amortization of $501 and $376 2,911 2,859
Total Assets $ 11,053 $ 10,273

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Medical Costs Payable $ 3,266 $ 2,915
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 1,050 1,003
Other Policy Liabilities 1,216 910
Commercial Paper and Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 559 591
Unearned Premiums 479 473

Total Current Liabilities 6,570 5,892
Long-Term Debt 650 400
Deferred Income Taxes and Other Liabilities 145 118
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11)
Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock, $0.01 par value - 500,000,000 shares authorized;
317,235,000 and 334,941,000 shares outstanding 3 3

Additional Paid-In Capital – 250
Retained Earnings 3,595 3,445
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income:

Net Unrealized Holding Gains on Investments Available for Sale,
net of income tax effects 90 165

Total Shareholders’ Equity 3,688 3,863
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $ 11,053 $ 10,273

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS UnitedHealth Group

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2000 1999 1998

Revenues
Premiums $ 18,926 $ 17,550 $ 15,516 
Management Services Fees 1,964 1,793 1,590 
Investment and Other Income 232 219 249 
Total Revenues 21,122 19,562 17,355 

Medical and Operating Costs
Medical Costs 16,155 15,043 13,523 
Operating Costs 3,520 3,343 2,964 
Depreciation and Amortization 247 233 185 
Operational Realignment and Other Charges – –    725 
Total Medical and Operating Costs 19,922 18,619 17,397 

Earnings (Loss) From Operations 1,200 943 (42)
Gain on Disposition of UnitedHealth Capital Investments 27 – –
Interest Expense (72) (49) (4)

Earnings (Loss) Before Taxes 1,155 894 (46)
Provision for Income Taxes (419) (326) (120)

Net Earnings (Loss) 736 568 (166)

Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends 
and Redemption Premium – –    (48)

Net Earnings (Loss) Applicable to Common Shareholders $ 736 $ 568 $ (214)

Basic Net Earnings (Loss) per Common Share $ 2.27 $ 1.63 $ (0.56)

Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) per Common Share $ 2.19 $ 1.60 $ (0.56)

Basic Weighted-Average Number of Common Shares
Outstanding 324.2 348.2 381.2 

Dilutive Effect of Outstanding Stock Options 12.3 6.8 –

Weighted-Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding
Assuming Dilution 336.5 355.0 381.2

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Net Unrealized
Additional Holding Gains Total

Common Stock Paid-in Retained on Investments Shareholders’ Comprehensive
(in millions) Shares Amount Capital Earnings Available for Sale Equity Income (Loss)

Balance at December 31, 1997 382 $ 4 $ 1,398 $3,103 $ 29 $4,534
Issuances of Common Stock 8 – 145 – – 145
Common Stock Repurchases (22) – (436) – – (436)
Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Net Loss – – – (166) – (166) $ (166)
Other Comprehensive Income Adjustments

Change in Net Unrealized Holding Gains 
on Investments Available for Sale, 
net of income tax effects – – – –    15 15 15

Comprehensive Loss – – – – – – $ (151)
Cash Dividends

Common Stock – – – (6) –    (6)
Convertible Preferred Stock – – – (28) –    (28)

Convertible Preferred Stock Redemption Premium – – – (20) –    (20)

Balance at December 31, 1998 368 4 1,107 2,883 44 4,038 
Issuances of Common Stock 6 –    125 – –    125 
Common Stock Repurchases (39) (1) (982) – –    (983)
Comprehensive Income

Net Earnings – – – 568 –    568 $ 568 
Other Comprehensive Income Adjustments

Change in Net Unrealized Holding Gains 
on Investments Available for Sale, 
net of income tax effects – – – –    121 121 121 

Comprehensive Income – – – – – – $ 689 
Common Stock Dividend – – – (6) –    (6)

Balance at December 31, 1999 335 3 250 3,445 165 3,863
Issuances of Common Stock 13 –    349 – –    349
Common Stock Repurchases (31) –    (599) (581) –    (1,180)
Comprehensive Income

Net Earnings – – – 736 –    736 $ 736 
Other Comprehensive Income Adjustments

Change in Net Unrealized Holding Gains  
on Investments Available for Sale, 
net of income tax effects – – – –    (75) (75) (75)

Comprehensive Income – – – – – – $ 661 
Common Stock Dividend – – – (5) –    (5)

Balance at December 31, 2000 317 $ 3 $ – $3,595 $ 90 $ 3,688 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

32

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY UnitedHealth Group

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2000 1999 1998

Operating Activities
Net Earnings (Loss) $ 736 $ 568 $ (166)
Noncash Items

Depreciation and Amortization 247 233 185 
Deferred Income Taxes and Other 73 35 (184)
Asset Impairments – –    451 

Net Change in Other Operating Items, net of effects
from acquisitions, sales of subsidiaries and changes 

in AARP balances
Accounts Receivable and Other Current Assets 26 84 67 
Medical Costs Payable 288 165 269 
Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities 162 60 347 
Unearned Premiums (11) 44 102 
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 1,521 1,189 1,071 

Investing Activities
Cash Paid for Acquisitions, net of cash assumed and other effects (76) (334) (464)
Purchases of Property and Equipment and Capitalized Software (245) (196) (210)
Proceeds from Sales of Property and Equipment and 

Disposition of Businesses 12 51 59 
Purchases of Investments (3,022) (2,208) (2,799)
Maturities and Sales of Investments 2,363 2,064 3,435 

Cash Flows (Used For) From Investing Activities (968) (623) 21 

Financing Activities
Proceeds from Common Stock Issuances 228 102 84 
(Payments of) Proceeds from Commercial Paper, net (182) 132 459 
Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt 400 150 249 
Common Stock Repurchases (1,180) (983) (436)
Redemption of Convertible Preferred Stock – –    (520)
Dividends Paid (5) (6) (34)

Cash Flows Used For Financing Activities (739) (605) (198)

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (186) (39) 894

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 1,605 1,644 750

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period $ 1,419 $ 1,605 $ 1,644 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unrealized gains and losses on investments available for sale are excluded from earnings and reported as a
separate component of shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects. To calculate realized gains and losses on 
the sale of investments, we use the specific cost of each investment sold. We have no investments classified as
trading securities.

ASSETS  UNDER MANAGEMENT
Under our 10-year agreement with AARP, we are administering certain aspects of AARP’s insurance program that
were transferred from the program’s previous carrier (see Note 5). Pursuant to our agreement with AARP, the
associated assets are managed separately from our general investment portfolio and are used to fund expendi-
tures associated with the AARP program. These assets are invested at our discretion, within certain investment
guidelines approved by AARP. At December 31, 2000, the assets were invested in marketable debt securities.
Interest earnings and realized investment gains and losses on these assets accrue to AARP policyholders and, as
such, are not included in our determination of earnings. Assets under management are reported at their fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses are included in the rate stabilization fund associated with the AARP program. As of
December 31, 2000, the AARP investment portfolio included net unrealized gains of $19 million compared with
net unrealized losses of $34 million as of December 31, 1999.

OTHER POLICY  LIABILITIES
Other policy liabilities include the rate stabilization fund associated with the AARP program (see Note 5) 
and retrospective rate credit liabilities and customer balances related to experience-rated indemnity products.

Retrospective rate credit liabilities represent premiums we received in excess of amounts contractually owed
by customers based on actual claim experience. Liabilities established for closed policy years are based on actual
experience, while liabilities for open years are based on estimates of premiums, claims and expenses incurred.

Customer balances consist principally of deposit accounts and reserves that have accumulated under
certain experience-rated contracts. At the customer’s option, these balances may be returned to the customer or
used to pay future premiums or claims under eligible contracts.

PROPERTY  AND EQUIPMENT  
Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the respective assets, ranging from three years to 30 years.
The weighted-average useful life of property and equipment at December 31, 2000, was approximately four years.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS   
Goodwill represents the purchase price and transaction costs associated with businesses we have acquired in
excess of the estimated fair value of the net assets of these businesses. To the extent possible, a portion of the
excess purchase price and transaction costs is assigned to identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill and other
intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over useful lives ranging from three years to 
40 years, with a weighted-average useful life of 32 years at December 31, 2000.

The most significant components of goodwill and other intangible assets are composed of goodwill of 
$2.1 billion at December 31, 2000 and 1999, and employer group contracts, supporting infrastructure, distribution
networks and institutional knowledge of $530 million at December 31, 2000, and $550 million at December 31, 1999,
net of accumulated amortization.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS
We review long-lived assets, including goodwill and other intangible assets, for events or changes in circumstances
that would indicate we might not recover their carrying value. We consider a number of factors, including estimated
future undiscounted cash flows associated with the long-lived asset, to make this decision. We record assets held
for sale at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value, less any costs associated with the final settlement.
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(1)  DESCRIPTION OF  BUSINESS

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated (also referred to as "UnitedHealth Group," "the company," "we," "us," "our")
is a national leader in forming and operating orderly, efficient markets for the exchange of high quality health
and well-being services. Through independent but strategically aligned, market-defined businesses, we offer
health care coverage and related services designed to enable, facilitate and advance optimal health. 

(2)  SUMMAR Y OF  S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

BASIS  OF  PRESENTATION
We have prepared the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and have included the accounts of UnitedHealth Group and its subsidiaries. We have eliminated all
significant intercompany balances and transactions.

USE OF  ESTIMATES   
These financial statements include some amounts that are based on our best estimates and judgments. The
most significant estimates relate to medical costs, medical costs payable, other policy liabilities and intangible
asset valuations relating to acquisitions. These estimates may be adjusted as more current information
becomes available, and any adjustment could be significant. The impact of any changes in estimates is included
in the determination of earnings in the period of change. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Premium revenues are recognized in the period enrolled members are entitled to receive health care services.
Premium payments received from our customers prior to such period are recorded as unearned premiums.
Management services fee revenues are recognized in the period the related services are performed. Premium
revenues related to Medicare and Medicaid programs as a percentage of total premium revenues were 17% in
2000, 21% in 1999 and 20% in 1998.

MEDICAL COSTS  AND MEDICAL COSTS  PAYABLE  
Medical costs include claims paid, claims adjudicated but not yet paid, estimates for claims received but not yet
adjudicated, and estimates for claims incurred but not yet received. 

The estimates of medical costs and medical costs payable are developed using actuarial methods based
upon historical data for payment patterns, cost trends, product mix, seasonality, utilization of health care
services and other relevant factors including product changes. The estimates are subject to change as actuarial
methods change or as underlying facts upon which estimates are based change. We did not change our actuarial
methods during 2000, 1999 and 1998. Management believes that the amount of medical costs payable is
adequate to cover the company’s liability for unpaid claims as of December 31, 2000.

CASH,  CASH EQUIVALENTS  AND INVESTMENTS  
Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less. The fair
value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their carrying value because of the short maturity of the instru-
ments. Investments with a maturity of less than one year are classified as short-term.

Investments held by trustees or agencies according to state regulatory requirements are classified as held-to-
maturity based on our ability and intent to hold these investments to maturity. Such investments are reported at
amortized cost and, because of regulatory restrictions, are included in long-term investments regardless of their
maturity date. All other investments are classified as available for sale and reported at fair value based on quoted
market prices. Investments are classified as short-term or long-term depending on their maturity term. Periodically,
we sell investments classified as long-term prior to their maturity to fund working capital or for other purposes.
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$105 million, which has been assigned to goodwill and is being amortized over its estimated useful life of 
40 years. The pro forma effects of the DBP acquisition on our consolidated financial statements were not material.

In October 1998, our Health Care Services segment acquired HealthPartners of Arizona, Inc. (HPA), with
509,000 members as of the acquisition date. We paid $235 million in cash in exchange for all outstanding shares
of HPA. We accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price and
costs associated with the acquisition exceeded the estimated fair value of net assets acquired by $223 million,
which has been assigned to goodwill and is being amortized over its estimated useful life of 40 years. The 
pro forma effects of the HPA acquisition on our consolidated financial statements were not material.

During 1998, our Ingenix segment acquired Kern McNeill International, Inc. (KMI), a leading contract research
organization, and St. Anthony Publishing, Inc. (St. Anthony), a leader in the health care coding and
reimbursement publications market. In the aggregate, we paid $188 million in cash and assumed liabilities of 
$17 million in exchange for all of the common stock of KMI and St. Anthony. We accounted for these acquisitions
using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price and costs associated with these acquisitions
exceeded the preliminary fair value of net assets acquired by $205 million, which has been assigned to trade
names and goodwill and is being amortized over their estimated useful lives ranging from 15 to 40 years. The 
pro forma effects of these acquisitions on our consolidated financial statements were not material.

(4)  SPECIAL  OPERATING CHARGES

OPERATIONAL REALIGNMENT AND OTHER CHARGES   
In conjunction with our operational realignment initiatives, we developed and, in the second quarter of 1998,
approved a comprehensive plan (the Plan) to implement our operational realignment. We recognized corre-
sponding charges to operations of $725 million in the second quarter of 1998, which reflected the estimated costs
to be incurred under the Plan. The charges included costs associated with asset impairments; employee termina-
tions; disposing of or discontinuing business units, product lines and contracts; and consolidating and eliminating
certain claim processing operations and associated real estate obligations. Activities associated with the Plan will
result in the reduction of approximately 5,200 positions, affecting approximately 6,400 people in various locations.
Through December 31, 2000, we have eliminated approximately 4,900 positions, affecting approximately 5,000
people, pursuant to the Plan. The remaining positions are expected to be eliminated during 2001.

Our accompanying financial statements include the operating results of businesses and markets disposed of
or discontinued, and markets we have exited in connection with the operational realignment. The accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations include revenues and operating earnings (losses) from businesses
disposed of and markets we exited for the years ended December 31, as follows (in millions):

2000 1999 1998

Revenues $ 312 $ 689 $ 964 
Earnings (Loss) From Operations $ 9 $ (41) $ (52)

The table above does not include operating results from the counties where UnitedHealthcare withdrew its
Medicare product offerings effective January 1, 2000, and January 1, 2001. Annual revenues for 1999 from the
counties exited effective January 1, 2000, were approximately $230 million. Annual revenues for 2000 from the
counties exited effective January 1, 2001, were approximately $320 million.

During 2000, we finalized our agreement with Blue Shield of California to transition approximately 210,000
individuals served by our California health plan. Additionally, we transitioned approximately 75,000 individuals
served by our Oregon and Washington health plans to Premera BlueCross and LifeWise. These actions conclude
our planned transition to concentrate resources in the Pacific Coast region on Uniprise national, multi-site
customers and Specialized Care Services customers. We have also transitioned out of the market in Puerto Rico. 
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INCOME TAXES   
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the differences between the financial and income tax
reporting bases of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax rates and laws. The deferred income tax provision
or benefit generally reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year. The
current income tax provision reflects the tax consequences of revenues and expenses currently taxable or
deductible on various income tax returns for the year reported.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION  
We use the intrinsic value method for determining stock-based compensation expenses. Under the intrinsic
value method, we do not recognize compensation expense when the exercise price of an employee stock option
equals or exceeds the fair market value of the stock on the date the option is granted. Information on what our
stock-based compensation expenses would have been had we calculated those expenses using the fair market
values of outstanding stock options is included in Note 9.

NET EARNINGS (LOSS)  PER  COMMON SHARE
Basic net earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) applicable to common
shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net
earnings (loss) per common share is determined using the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents, consisting of shares
that might be issued upon exercise of common stock options. In periods where losses are reported, the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding excludes common stock equivalents, since their
inclusion would be anti-dilutive. 

RECENTL Y  ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS  
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 133 regarding accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities. SFAS No. 133, as amended by
SFAS No. 137 and No. 138, establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that derivative instruments
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) and hedging activity be recorded in the
balance sheet either as an asset or liability measured at its fair value. The statement requires changes in the deriv-
ative’s fair value to be recognized in earnings or, for derivatives that hedge market risk related to future cash flows,
in accumulated other comprehensive income, unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. The company
adopted SFAS No. 133 within its financial statements effective January 1, 2001, which did not result in a material
effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

(3)  ACQUISITIONS

In September 1999, our Ingenix business segment acquired Worldwide Clinical Trials, Inc. (WCT), a leading
contract research organization. We paid $214 million in cash in exchange for all outstanding shares of WCT. We
accounted for the purchase using the purchase method of accounting, which means the purchase price was
allocated to assets and liabilities acquired based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. Only the
post-acquisition results of WCT are included in our consolidated financial statements. The purchase price and
costs associated with the acquisition exceeded the preliminary estimated fair value of net assets acquired by 
$214 million, which has been assigned to goodwill and is being amortized over its estimated useful life of 30 years.
The pro forma effects of the WCT acquisition on our consolidated financial statements were not material.

In June 1999, our Specialized Care Services business segment acquired Dental Benefit Providers, Inc. (DBP),
one of the largest dental benefit management companies in the United States. We paid $105 million in cash, and
we accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price and costs
associated with the acquisition exceeded the preliminary estimated fair value of net assets acquired by 
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(5)  AARP  CONTRACT

In February 1997, we entered into a 10-year contract to provide insurance products and services to members of
AARP. Under the terms of the contract, we are compensated for claim administration and other services as well
as for assuming underwriting risk. We are also engaged in product development activities to complement the
insurance offerings under this program. Premium revenues from our portion of the AARP insurance offerings
were approximately $3.5 billion during 2000, 1999 and 1998.

The underwriting results related to the AARP business are recorded as an increase or decrease to a rate 
stabilization fund (RSF). The primary components of the underwriting results are premium revenue, medical
costs, investment income, administrative expenses, member service expenses, marketing expenses and
premium taxes. To the extent underwriting losses exceed the balance in the RSF, we would be required to fund
the deficit. Any deficit we fund could be recovered by underwriting gains in future periods of the contract. The
RSF balance is reported in Other Policy Liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. We believe
the RSF balance is sufficient to cover potential future underwriting or other risks associated with the contract.

We assumed the policy and other policy liabilities related to the AARP program and received cash and
premium receivables from the previous insurance carrier equal to the carrying value of the liabilities assumed as
of January 1, 1998. The following AARP program-related assets and liabilities are included in our Consolidated
Balance Sheets (in millions):

Balance as of December 31,
2000 1999

Assets Under Management $ 1,625 $ 1,307 
Accounts Receivable $ 277 $ 276 
Medical Costs Payable $ 855 $ 791 
Other Policy Liabilities $ 932 $ 713 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities $ 115 $ 79

The effects of changes in balance sheet amounts associated with the AARP program accrue to AARP policy-
holders through the RSF balance. Accordingly, we do not include the effect of such changes in our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.
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The balances accrued in our operational realignment and other charges were sufficient to cover expenses incurred
in the sale and exit of our operations in these markets.

The operational realignment and other charges do not cover certain aspects of the Plan, including new 
information systems, data conversions, process re-engineering, temporary duplicate staffing costs as we
consolidate processing centers, and employee relocation and training. These costs are expensed as incurred or
capitalized, as appropriate. During 2000, 1999 and 1998, we incurred expenses of approximately $57 million, 
$52 million and $13 million, respectively, related to these activities.

The Plan anticipated substantial completion in 1999. However, some initiatives, including the consolidation of
certain claim and administrative processing functions and certain divestitures and market realignment activities
are requiring additional time to complete in the most effective manner. These activities will extend through the
middle of 2001. Based on current facts and circumstances, we believe the remaining realignment reserve is
adequate to cover the costs to be incurred in executing the remainder of the Plan. However, as we proceed with
the execution of the Plan and more current information becomes available, it may be necessary to adjust our
estimates for severance and lease obligations on exited facilities.

The table below is a roll-forward of accrued operational realignment and other charges, which are included in
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, through
December 31, 2000 (in millions):

Severance and Noncancelable Disposition of
Asset Outplacement Lease Businesses and

Impairments Costs Obligations Other Costs Total

Balance at December 31, 1997 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ –
Provision for Operational Realignment

and Other Charges 430 142 82 71 725 
Additional Charges (Credits) 21 (20) (9) 8 –
Cash Payments –    (19) (6) (13) (38)
Noncash Charges (451) – – –    (451)

Balance at December 31, 1998 –    103 67 66 236
Additional Charges (Credits) –    (22) 13 9 –
Cash Payments –    (46) (18) (45) (109)

Balance at December 31, 1999 –    35 62 30 127 
Cash Payments –    (24) (20) (18) (62)

Balance at December 31, 2000 $ –   $ 11 $ 42 $ 12 $ 65 

MEDICAL COSTS
During the second quarter of 1998, we recorded $175 million of medical cost charges. Of this amount, 
$120 million related to Medicare contract losses and increases to Medicare medical costs payable estimates,
and $55 million related to increases to commercial medical costs payable estimates.
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(7)  COMMERCIAL PAPER AND DEBT 

Commercial paper and debt consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):

2000 1999
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair  

Value Value Value Value

Commercial Paper $ 409 $ 409 $ 591 $ 591 
Floating Rate Notes

due November 2001 150 150 150 150 
6.6% Senior Unsecured Notes 

due December 2003 250 250 250 238
7.5% Senior Unsecured Notes

due November 2005 400 413 – –
Total Commercial Paper and Debt 1,209 1,222 991 979 
Less Current Maturities (559) (559) (591) (591)
Total Long-Term Debt $ 650 $ 663 $ 400 $ 388 

As of December 31, 2000, our outstanding commercial paper had interest rates ranging from 6.6% to 6.9%. In
November 1999, we issued $150 million of two-year floating-rate notes. The interest rate is adjusted quarterly
to the three-month LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate) plus 0.5%. As of December 31, 2000, the applicable
rate was 7.25%.

In July 2000, we executed new credit arrangements supporting our commercial paper program for an
aggregate of $900 million. These credit arrangements are composed of a $450 million revolving credit facility
expiring in July 2005, and a $450 million, 364-day facility expiring in July 2001. We also have the capacity to issue
approximately $200 million of extendible commercial notes (ECNs). During 2000, we had no amounts
outstanding under our credit facilities or ECNs.

Our debt agreements and credit facilities contain various covenants, the most restrictive of which place
limitations on secured and unsecured borrowings and require us to exceed minimum interest coverage levels. 
We are in compliance with the requirements of all debt covenants.

Maturities of commercial paper and debt for the years ending December 31 are as follows (in millions):

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

$  559 – $  250 – $  400

We made cash payments for interest of $68 million and $43 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively. We made no
cash payments for interest in 1998.
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(6)  CASH,  CASH EQUIVALENTS  AND INVESTMENTS

As of December 31, the amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains and losses, and fair value of cash, cash
equivalents and investments were as follows (in millions):

Amortized Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Fair
2000 Cost Holding Gains Holding Losses Value

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,419 $ – $ – $ 1,419 
Debt Securities — Available for Sale 3,198 89 (6) 3,281 
Equity Securities — Available for Sale 201 61 –  262
Debt Securities — Held to Maturity 91 – –   91 

Total Cash and Investments $ 4,909 $ 150 $ (6) $ 5,053 

1999
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,605 $ – $ – $ 1,605
Debt Securities —  Available for Sale 2,605 4 (58) 2,551 
Equity Securities —  Available for Sale 166 318 – 484
Debt Securities —  Held to Maturity 79 – – 79

Total Cash and Investments $ 4,455 $ 322 $ (58) $ 4,719 

As of December 31, 2000, debt securities consisted of $855 million in U.S. Government obligations, $1,386 million in
state and municipal obligations, and $1,131 million in corporate obligations. At December 31, 2000, we held 
$209 million in debt securities with maturities less than one year, $1,227 million in debt securities maturing in one to
five years, and $1,936 million in debt securities with maturities of more than five years.

We recorded realized gains and losses on the sale of investments, excluding UnitedHealth Capital invest-
ments, as follows (in millions):

For the Year Ended December 31,
2000 1999 1998

Gross Realized Gains $ 12 $ 9 $ 31 
Gross Realized Losses (46) (15) (5)

Net Realized Gains (Losses) $ (34) $ (6) $ 26

During 2000 and 1999, respectively, we contributed UnitedHealth Capital investments valued at approximately
$52 million and $50 million to the UnitedHealth Foundation. The realized gain of approximately $51 million in 2000
and $49 million in 1999 was offset by the related contribution expense of $52 million in 2000 and $50 million in
1999. The $1 million net expense of these transactions in both 2000 and 1999 is included in Investment and Other
Income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

In a separate disposition of UnitedHealth Capital investments during 2000, we realized a gain of $27 million.
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(9)  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The company maintains various stock and incentive plans for the benefit of eligible employees and directors. As
of December 31, 2000, employee stock and incentive plans allowed for the future granting of up to 22.4 million
shares as incentive or non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and
performance awards. Our non-employee director stock option plan allowed for future granting of 825,000 
non-qualified stock options as of December 31, 2000.

Stock options are granted at an exercise price not less than the fair market value of the common stock at the
date of grant. They may be exercised over varying periods and up to 10 years from the date of grant. A summary
of activity under our various stock plans is presented in the table below (shares in thousands):

2000 1999 1998
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at Beginning of Year 44,080 $ 19 36,748 $ 19 34,226 $ 17 
Granted 8,516 $ 30 14,406 $ 20 11,694 $ 20 
Exercised (12,331) $ 17 (4,666) $ 17 (6,758) $ 12 
Forfeited (1,455) $ 20 (2,408) $ 20 (2,414) $ 20 
Outstanding at End of Year 38,810 $ 22 44,080 $ 19 36,748 $ 19 
Exercisable at End of Year 17,367 $ 20 15,558 $ 17 13,450 $ 17 

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average

Number Remaining Weighted-Average Number Weighted-Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Option Term (years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

$ 0-$20 9,723 6.0 $ 17 6,755 $ 16 
$21-$30 25,611 8.1 $ 22 10,482 $ 22 
$31-$40 3,269 9.5 $ 39 130 $ 34 
$41-$50 207 9.6 $ 44 –    $ –
$ 0-$50 38,810 7.7 $ 22 17,367 $ 20 

We do not recognize compensation expense in connection with stock option grants because we grant stock options
at exercise prices that equal or exceed the fair market value of the stock at the time options are granted. If we had
determined compensation expense using fair market values for the stock options, net earnings (loss) per common
share would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts:

2000 1999 1998

Net Earnings (Loss) (in millions)
As Reported $ 736 $ 568 $ (166)
Pro Forma $ 660 $ 531 $ (206)

Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) Per 
Common Share

As Reported $ 2.19 $ 1.60 $ (0.56)
Pro Forma $ 2.04 $ 1.50 $ (0.67)

Weighted-Average Fair Value Per Share of
Options Granted $ 14 $ 12 $ 8 
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(8)  SHAREHOLDERS ’  EQUITY

REGULATOR Y CAPITAL AND DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS  
Our operations are conducted through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, which include health maintenance organ-
izations and insurance companies. These companies are subject to state regulations that, among other things,
may require the maintenance of minimum levels of statutory capital, as defined by each state, and restrict the
timing and amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their respective parent companies.
Generally, the amount of dividend distributions that may be paid by our regulated subsidiaries, without prior
approval by state regulatory authorities, is limited based on the entity’s level of statutory net income and statutory
capital and surplus. Approximately $4.7 billion of our $5.1 billion of cash and investments at December 31, 2000,
was held by regulated subsidiaries.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has developed minimum capitalization guidelines for
health maintenance organizations, subject to state-by-state adoption. Many states have adopted and other
states will likely adopt some form of these rules. We do not expect that further state adoptions or implementa-
tions will require us to make significant incremental investments of general corporate resources into regulated
subsidiaries.

STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

Under the board of directors’ authorization, we are operating a common stock repurchase program.
Repurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume,
pricing and timing. During 2000, we repurchased 31.0 million shares for an aggregate of $1.2 billion. Since
inception of our stock repurchase activities in November 1997 through December 31, 2000, we have repur-
chased 92.9 million shares for an aggregate of $2.6 billion. As of December 31, 2000, we have board of directors’
authorization to purchase up to an additional 28.4 million shares of our common stock.

As a component of our share repurchase activities, we have entered into agreements to purchase shares of
our common stock, where the number of shares we purchase, if any, is dependent upon market conditions and
other contractual terms. As of December 31, 2000, we have agreements to purchase up to 8.9 million shares of
our common stock at various times through 2003, at an average cost of approximately $40 per share.

COMMON STOCK SPLIT

In October 2000, our board of directors declared a two-for-one split of the company’s common stock in the form
of a 100 percent common stock dividend. The dividend was issued on December 22, 2000, to shareholders of
record as of December 1, 2000. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been restated to
reflect the share and per share effects of the common stock split.

DIVIDENDS

On February 13, 2001, the board of directors approved an annual dividend for 2001 of $0.03 per share. The
dividend will be paid on April 18, 2001, to shareholders of record at the close of business on April 2, 2001.

PREFERRED STOCK

In December 1998, the company redeemed all 500,000 outstanding shares of 5.75% Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock. At December 31, 2000, we have 10 million shares of $0.001 par value preferred stock authorized
for issuance, and no preferred shares issued and outstanding.
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Components of Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities

December 31, (in millions) 2000 1999

Deferred Income Tax Assets
Accrued Expenses and Allowances $ 126 $ 101 
Unearned Premiums 74 87
Medical Costs Payable and

Other Policy Liabilities 84 62
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards 42 43
Other 10 10

Subtotal 336 303
Less: Valuation Allowances (56) (52)

Total Deferred Income Tax Assets 280 251

Deferred Income Tax Liabilities
Capitalized Software Development (80) (54)
Net Unrealized Gains on Investments

Available for Sale (59) (97)
Depreciation & Amortization (12) (4)

Total Deferred Income Tax Liabilities (151) (155)
Net Deferred Income Tax Assets $ 129 $ 96

Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized. The
valuation allowance primarily relates to future tax benefits on certain purchased domestic and foreign net
operating losses.

We made cash payments for income taxes of $352 million in 2000, $214 million in 1999 and $245 million in 1998.
We increased additional paid-in capital by $116 million in 2000, $23 million in 1999 and $47 million in 1998 to
reflect the tax benefit we received upon the exercise of non-qualified stock options.

Consolidated income tax returns for fiscal years 1996 through 1999 are currently being examined by the
Internal Revenue Service. We do not believe any adjustments that may result will have a significant impact on our
consolidated operating results or financial position.

(11) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

LEASES

We lease facilities, computer hardware and other equipment under long-term operating leases that are non-
cancelable and expire on various dates through 2011. Rent expense under all operating leases was 
$132 million in 2000, $129 million in 1999 and $119 million in 1998.

At December 31, 2000, future minimum annual lease payments under all non-cancelable operating leases
were as follows (in millions):

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 Thereafter

$  121 $  108 $   95 $   84 $   74 $  340

SERVICE AGREEMENTS  

In 1995 and 1996, we entered into three separate contracts for certain data center operations and support, and
network and voice communication services, each with an approximate term of 10 years. Expenses incurred in
connection with these agreements were $182 million in 2000, $172 million in 1999 and $162 million in 1998.
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To determine compensation cost under the fair value method, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Principal assumptions used in applying the
Black-Scholes model were as follows:

2000 1999 1998

Risk-Free Interest Rate 5.0% 6.7% 5.2%
Expected Volatility 49.0% 50.0% 46.0%
Expected Dividend Yield 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%
Expected Life in Years 4.5 5.0 5.8

We also maintain a non-leveraged employee stock ownership plan and an employee stock purchase plan. Activity
related to these plans was not material in relation to our consolidated financial results in 2000, 1999 and 1998.

(10)  INCOME TAXES

Components of the Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31, (in millions) 2000 1999 1998

Current
Federal $ 330 $ 264 $ 273 
State 38 36 31 

Total Current 368 300 304 
Deferred 51 26 (184)

Total Provision $ 419 $ 326 $ 120 

Reconciliation of the Tax Provision at the U.S. Federal Statutory Rate to the Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31, (in millions) 2000 1999 1998

Tax Provision (Benefit) at the 
U.S. Federal Statutory Rate $ 404 $ 313 $ (16)

State Income Taxes, net of federal benefit 29 24 19 
Tax-Exempt Investment Income (17) (16) (25)
Non-Deductible Amortization 27 25 24 
Non-Deductible Asset Impairments – – 100
Charitable Contributions (18) (16) –
Other, net (6) (4) 18 

Provision for Income Taxes $ 419 $ 326 $ 120 
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Health Care Specialized Corporate 
2000 Services Uniprise Care Services Ingenix and Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues — External Customers $ 18,502 $ 1,595 $ 503 $ 290 $ – $ 20,890 
Revenues — Intersegment – 520 461 85 (1,066) –
Investment and Other Income 194 25 10 – 3 232 
Total Revenues $ 18,696 $ 2,140 $ 974 $ 375 $ (1,063) $ 21,122 

Earnings (Loss) From Operations $ 739 $ 289 $ 174 $ 32 $ (34) $ 1,200 
Total Assets 1 $ 8,118 $ 1,578 $ 525 $ 730 $ (133) $ 10,818 
Net Assets 1 $ 3,085 $ 978 $ 276 $ 617 $ (113) $ 4,843 

Purchases of Property and Equipment
and Capitalized Software $ 88 $ 94 $ 28 $ 35 $ – $ 245

Depreciation and Amortization $ 100 $ 75 $ 25 $ 47 $ – $ 247 

1999
Revenues —  External Customers $17,419 $ 1,398 $ 328 $ 198 $ – $19,343 
Revenues —  Intersegment – 445 393 59 (897) –
Investment and Other Income 162 22 5 1 29 219 
Total Revenues $17,581 $ 1,865 $ 726 $ 258 $ (868) $19,562 

Earnings (Loss) From Operations $ 578 $ 222 $ 128 $ 25 $ (10) $ 943 
Total Assets 1 $ 7,364 $ 1,411 $ 446 $ 683 $ 206 $10,110 
Net Assets 1 $ 2,892 $ 953 $ 230 $ 573 $ 221 $ 4,869 

Purchases of Property and Equipment
and Capitalized Software $ 69 $ 71 $ 28 $ 28 $ –  $ 196 

Depreciation and Amortization $ 97 $ 76 $ 23 $ 37 $ – $ 233 

1998
Revenues —  External Customers $15,463 $ 1,238 $ 274 $ 131 $ – $17,106 
Revenues —  Intersegment – 357 339 52 (748) –
Investment and Other Income 149 29 5 1 65 249 
Total Revenues $15,612 $ 1,624 $ 618 $ 184 $ (683) $17,355 

Earnings (Loss) From Operations 2 $ 503 $ 161 $ 109 $ 20 $ 65 $ 858 
Total Assets 1 $ 6,652 $ 1,499 $ 231 $ 472 $ 555 $ 9,409 
Net Assets 1 $ 2,512 $ 940 $ 89 $ 388 $ 555 $ 4,484 

Purchases of Property and Equipment
and Capitalized Software $ 80 $ 93 $ 27 $ 10 $ – $ 210 

Depreciation and Amortization $ 90 $ 59 $ 14 $ 22 $ – $ 185 
1 Total Assets and Net Assets exclude, where applicable, debt and accrued interest of $1,222 million, $1,002 million and $708 million, income tax-related assets of $235 million,
$163 million and $266 million, and income tax-related liabilities of $168 million, $167 million and $4 million as of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
2 For comparability purposes, 1998 results are adjusted to exclude $725 million of operational realignment and other charges and $175 million of charges related to contract loss-
es associated with certain Medicare markets and other increases to commercial and Medicare medical costs payable estimates. Including these charges, 1998 segment operat-
ing earnings (loss) from operations were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 1998

Health Care Services $ (46)
Uniprise 10 
Specialized Care Services 14 
Ingenix (66)

Total Operating Segments (88)
Corporate 46 

Total Consolidated $ (42)
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LEGAL MATTERS   

Because of the nature of our business, we are routinely subject to suits alleging various causes of action. Some
of these suits may include claims for substantial non-economic or punitive damages. We do not believe that any
such actions, or any other types of actions, currently threatened or pending will, individually or in the aggregate,
have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION  

Our business is regulated at federal, state and local levels. The laws and rules governing our business 
are subject to frequent change and broad latitude is given to the agencies administering those regulations. State
legislatures and Congress continue to focus on health care issues as the subject of proposed legislation. Existing
or future laws and rules could force us to change how we do business, restrict revenue and enrollment growth,
increase our health care and administrative costs and capital requirements, and increase our liability for medical
malpractice or other actions. Further, we must obtain and maintain regulatory approvals to market many of 
our products.

We are also subject to various governmental reviews, audits and investigations. However, we do not believe
the results of any of the current audits, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our
financial position or results of operations.

(12)  SEGMENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Our accounting policies for business segment operations are the same as those described in the Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies (see Note 2). Transactions between business segments are recorded at their
estimated fair value, as if they were purchased from or sold to third parties. All intersegment transactions are
eliminated in consolidation. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, segments with similar
economic characteristics may be combined. The financial results of UnitedHealthcare and Ovations have been
combined in the Health Care Services segment column in the tables presented on the next page (in millions):
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R E P O RT  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  P U B L I C

A C C O U N TA N T S

R E P O RT  O F  M A N A G E M E N T

To the Shareholders and 
Directors of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated
(a Minnesota Corporation) and Subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related consol-
idated statements of operations, changes in share-
holders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2000. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of UnitedHealth Group Incorporated
and its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and
1999, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February  2, 2001

The management of UnitedHealth Group is respon-
sible for the integrity and objectivity of the consoli-
dated financial information contained in this annual
report. The consolidated financial statements and
related information were prepared according to
generally accepted accounting principles and include
some amounts that are based on management’s best
estimates and judgments.

To meet its responsibility, management depends
on its accounting systems and related internal
accounting controls. These systems are designed to
provide reasonable assurance, at an appropriate cost,
that financial records are reliable for use in preparing
financial statements and that assets are safeguarded.
Qualified personnel throughout the organization
maintain and monitor these internal accounting
controls on an ongoing basis. 

The Audit Committee of the board of directors,
composed entirely of directors who are not employees
of the company, meets periodically and privately with
the company’s independent public accountants and
management to review accounting, auditing, internal
control, financial reporting and other matters.

William W. McGuire, M.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Stephen J. Hemsley
President and Chief Operating Officer

Patrick J. Erlandson
Chief Financial Officer

(13) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarter Ended
(in millions, except per share data) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2000
Revenues $ 5,099 $ 5,220 $ 5,369 $ 5,434
Medical and Operating Costs $ 4,826 $ 4,932 $ 5,060 $ 5,104
Net Earnings Applicable to 

Common Shareholders $ 1741 $ 170 $ 182 $ 2102

Basic Net Earnings per Common Share $ 0.53 $ 0.52 $ 0.56 $ 0.66
Diluted Net Earnings per Common Share $ 0.521 $ 0.50 $ 0.54 $ 0.632

1999
Revenues $ 4,809 $ 4,858 $ 4,903 $ 4,992
Medical and Operating Costs $ 4,588 $ 4,633 $ 4,664 $ 4,734
Net Earnings Applicable to 

Common Shareholders $ 132 $ 135 $ 144 $ 1573

Basic Net Earnings per Common Share $ 0.36 $ 0.39 $ 0.41 $ 0.47 
Diluted Net Earnings per Common Share $ 0.36 $ 0.38 $ 0.40 $ 0.463

1 Includes a $14 million, net permanent tax benefit related to the contribution of UnitedHealth Capital investments to the UnitedHealth Foundation. Excluding this benefit, Net
Earnings Applicable to Common Shareholders and Diluted Net Earnings Per Common Share were $160 million or $0.48 per share, respectively.
2 Includes a $27 million gain ($17 million after-tax) related to the disposition of UnitedHealth Capital investments. Excluding this gain, Net Earnings and Diluted Net Earnings per
Common Share were $193 million and $0.58 per share, respectively.
3 Includes a net permanent tax benefit primarily related to the contribution of UnitedHealth Capital investments to the UnitedHealth Foundation. Excluding this benefit, Net
Earnings Applicable to Common Shareholders and Diluted Net Earnings per Common Share were $152 million and $0.44 per share, respectively.
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B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

William C. Ballard, Jr.
Of Counsel 

Greenbaum, Doll & McDonald

Louisville, Kentucky, law firm

Richard T. Burke
Former Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

United HealthCare

Corporation

Stephen J. Hemsley
President and 

Chief Operating Officer

UnitedHealth Group

James A. Johnson
Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Johnson Capital Partners

Private investment company

Thomas H. Kean
President 

Drew University

Douglas W. Leatherdale
Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

The Saint Paul Companies Inc.

Insurance and related services

William W. McGuire, M.D.
Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

UnitedHealth Group

Walter F. Mondale
Partner

Dorsey & Whitney LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota, law firm

Mary O. Mundinger
Dean and Professor, School of Nursing,

and Associate Dean, 

Faculty of Medicine 

Columbia University

Robert L. Ryan
Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Medtronic, Inc.

Medical devices company

William G. Spears
Managing Partner

W. G. Spears Grisant & 

Brown LLC
New York City-based investment 
counseling and management firm

Gail R. Wilensky
Senior Fellow

Project HOPE

International health foundation

Audit Committee

William C. Ballard, Jr.
James A. Johnson
Douglas W. Leatherdale
Robert L. Ryan

Compensation and Human

Resources Committee

Thomas H. Kean
Mary O. Mundinger
William G. Spears

Compliance and Government

Affairs Committee

Richard T. Burke
Walter F. Mondale
Gail R. Wilensky

Executive Committee

William C. Ballard, Jr.
Douglas W. Leatherdale
William W. McGuire, M.D.
William G. Spears

Nominating Committee

William C. Ballard, Jr.
Thomas H. Kean
Douglas W. Leatherdale
William W. McGuire, M.D.
William G. Spears
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UnitedHealth Group

William W. McGuire, M.D.
Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Stephen J. Hemsley
President and 

Chief Operating Officer

Patrick J. Erlandson
Chief Financial Officer

David J. Lubben
General Counsel

Jeannine M. Rivet
Executive Vice President

James B. Hudak
Chief Executive Officer

UnitedHealth Technologies

Reed V. Tuckson, M.D.
Senior Vice President

Consumer Health and Medical

Care Advancement

L. Robert Dapper
Senior Vice President

Human Capital

John S. Penshorn
Director of Capital Markets

Communications and Strategy

UnitedHealthcare

Robert J. Sheehy
Chief Executive Officer

Ovations

Lois Quam
Chief Executive Officer

Uniprise

R. Channing Wheeler
Chief Executive Officer

Specialized Care Services

Ronald B. Colby
Chief Executive Officer

Ingenix

Jeannine M. Rivet
Chief Executive Officer

Brought to you by Global Reports



52

F I N A N C I A L  P E R F O R M A N C E  AT  A  G L A N C E   UnitedHealth Group

Growth & Profits — Consolidated1

(in millions, except per share data) 1998 1999 2000

Revenues $ 17,355 $ 19,562 $ 21,122
Continuing Markets Revenue Growth Rate 12% 13% 12%

Earnings from Operations $ 858 $ 943 $ 1,200
Operating Margin 4.9% 4.8% 5.7%
Return on Net Assets 17.7% 19.8% 25.5%

Net Earnings $ 509 $ 563 $ 705 
Net Margin 2.9% 2.9% 3.3%

Diluted Net Earnings Per Share $ 1.31 $ 1.59 $ 2.10

Growth & Profits — By Segment1 (in millions) 1998 1999 2000

Health Care Services
Revenues $ 15,612  $ 17,581  $ 18,696
Earnings from Operations $ 503 $ 578 $ 739
Operating Margin 3.2% 3.3% 4.0%
Return on Net Assets 20.0% 20.6% 24.6%

Uniprise
Revenues $ 1,624  $ 1,865  $ 2,140
Earnings from Operations $ 161 $ 222 $ 289
Operating Margin 9.9% 11.9% 13.5%
Return on Net Assets 16.7% 22.6% 30.6%

Specialized Care Services
Revenues $ 618 $ 726 $ 974
Earnings from Operations $ 109 $ 128 $ 174 
Operating Margin 17.6% 17.6% 17.9%
Return on Net Assets 105.8% 80.0% 68.8%

Ingenix
Revenues $ 184 $ 258 $ 375 
Earnings from Operations $ 20 $ 25 $ 32 
Operating Margin 10.9% 9.7% 8.5%
Return on Net Assets 7.3% 5.4% 5.2%

Capital Items1

(in millions, except per share data) 1998 1999 2000

Cash Flows from Operations $ 1,071  $ 1,189  $ 1,521

Capital Expenditures $ 210 $ 196 $ 245 

Cash Paid for Acquisitions $ 464 $ 334 $ 76

Debt to Total Capital nm 20.4% 24.7%

Return on Shareholders’ Equity 11.9% 14.1% 19.0%

Year-End Market Capitalization $ 7,920 $ 8,896 $ 19,470

Year-End Common Share Price $ 21.53 $ 26.56 $ 61.38

1 Excludes nonrecurring items and special operating charges.

nm - not meaningful
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Market Price of Common Stock

The following table shows the range of high and low
sales prices for the company’s stock as reported on the
New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape for the
calendar periods shown through February 26, 2001.
These prices do not include commissions or fees
associated with purchasing or selling this security.

High Low
2001
First Quarter 2001

Through February 26, 2001 $ 62.41 $ 51.56

2000
First Quarter 2000 $ 32.33 $ 23.18 
Second Quarter 2000 $ 44.50 $ 28.88 
Third Quarter 2000 $ 50.56 $ 39.06 
Fourth Quarter 2000 $ 63.44 $ 48.63 

1999
First Quarter 1999 $ 27.34 $ 19.72 
Second Quarter 1999 $ 35.00 $ 22.35 
Third Quarter 1999 $ 33.35 $ 24.03 
Fourth Quarter 1999 $ 29.25 $ 19.69

Account Questions

Our transfer agent, Wells Fargo, National Association,
can help you with a variety of shareholder-related
services, including:

Change of address
Lost stock certificates
Transfer of stock to another person
Additional administrative services

You can call our transfer agent at (800) 468-9716 
or locally at (651) 450-4064.

You can write them at:
Wells Fargo Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 64854
Saint Paul, Minnesota 55164-0854

Or you can e-mail our transfer agent at:
stocktransfer@wellsfargo.com

Investor Relations

You can contact UnitedHealth Group’s Investor
Relations group any time to order, without charge,
financial documents, such as the annual report and
Form 10-K. You can write to us at:

Investor Relations, MN008-T930
UnitedHealth Group
P.O. Box 1459
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55440-1459

Annual Meeting

We invite UnitedHealth Group shareholders to attend
our annual meeting, which will be held on Wednesday, 
May 9, 2001, at 10 a.m., at UnitedHealth Group Center,
9900 Bren Road East, Minnetonka, Minnesota.

Dividend Policy

UnitedHealth Group’s dividend policy was established
by the board of directors in August 1990. The policy
requires the board to review the company’s audited
financial statements following the end of each fiscal
year and decide whether it is advisable to declare a
dividend on the outstanding shares of common stock.

Shareholders of record on April 1, 2000, received 
an annual dividend for 2000 of $0.015 per share. 
On October 24, 2000, UnitedHealth Group’s board 
of directors declared a two-for-one stock split. On
February 13, 2001, the company’s board of directors
approved an annual dividend for 2001 of $0.03 per share.
The dividend will be paid on April 18, 2001, to share-
holders of record at the close of business on April 2, 2001.

Stock Listing

The company’s common stock is traded on the New
York Stock Exchange under the symbol UNH.

Information Online

You can view our annual report and obtain more infor-
mation about UnitedHealth Group and its businesses via
the Internet at:

www.unitedhealthgroup.com

I N V E S T O R  I N F O R M AT I O N   UnitedHealth Group
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